STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenwood County
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
Aug 20 2020
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ZANTRAVIOUS RANDELL HALL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-002176

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err in failing to permit Appellant to present social media messages providing evidence of an alibi for one of his co-defendants, who was not on trial, where the social media messages were authenticated properly pursuant to Rule 901, SCRE, because the person who received the messages was prepared to testify and where the circumstantial evidence of distinctive characteristics established the evidence was what it purported to be?

II. Did the trial judge improperly sentence Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole pursuant to the recidivist statute where Appellant's prior conviction did not constitute a "strike" because (1) the family court failed to make adequate findings of fact pursuant to In re Sullivan, 274 S.C. 544, 548, 265 S.E.2d 527, 529 (1980), and (2) using a prior conviction for an offense committed while Appellant was a juvenile violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 9, 2018, a Greenwood County grand jury indicted Appellant for the murder of Emyle Markial McDuffie (2018-GS-24-408) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2018-GS-24-409). R. 577 – R. 578; R. 580 – R.581. On July 13, 2018, a Greenwood County grand jury indicted Appellant for the attempted murder of Michael D. Lukie (2018-GS-24-1246). R. 583 – R. 584.¹ On July 26, 2018, the state served its intent to seek a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole (LWOP) pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45. R. 533.

On October 8-12, 2018, the state, represented by Josh Thomas and Yates Brown, called the case to trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury. R. 1. Janna Nelson and Elizabeth Able represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 495, ll. 2-8. The judge deferred sentencing to consider Appellant’s memorandum in opposition to sentencing pursuant to the recidivist statute. R. 496, l. 2 – R. 497, l. 8; R. 521. The parties reconvened on November 30, 2018. R. 498. Judge Hocker denied Appellant’s motion. R. 507, l. 22 – R. 508, l. 6; R. 510, ll. 8-16. Thereafter, he sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole (LWOP) for murder and attempted murder. R. 510, ll. 19-24; R. 513, ll. 19-21. He imposed no sentence on the weapon conviction in light of the life sentences. R. 513, l. 25 – R. 514, l. 2.

Appellant served his notice of intent to appeal on December 10, 2018. Appellant now files this brief.

¹ Appellant was also charged with failure to stop for a blue light. R. 184, l. 25 – R. 188, l. 13. During the middle of the trial, Appellant entered a guilty plea to this charge. R. 184, l. 25 – R. 188, l. 13. Judge Hocker sentenced Appellant to time served for this offense. R. 513, ll. 22-24.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 21, 2017, Timothy Wilson and Michael “Luke” Lukie walked across the street from Phoenix Place Apartments to smoke a blunt. R. 82, ll. 3-10; R. 83, ll. 9-13; R. 97, ll. 3-6. Emyle “Gump” McDuffie soon joined them. R. 83, ll. 14-25; R. 84, ll. 7-9; R. 96, l. 22 – R. 97, l. 6. Eventually, McDuffie and Lukie walked toward Building 3 of the apartment complex to get a pair of pants for McDuffie. R. 84, ll. 16-19; R. 97, ll. 7-18.

During this time, Marisha C. was at her home in the apartment complex, looking out her window. R. 65, l. 20 – R. 66, l. 13. She saw two cars – one was red, and the other was white. R. 67, ll. 6-7. She saw McDuffie walking toward the car and “talking through the window on the passenger side.” R. 67, ll. 7-11. Although McDuffie initially started to walk away, he turned toward the passenger side of car again. R. 67, ll. 11-14; R. 72, ll. 1-14. At this point Marisha C. heard a gunshot. R. 67, ll. 14-18. Marisha C. ran out of her home to see what happened. R. 69, ll. 2-4. She saw that McDuffie had been shot. R. 69, ll. 3-4.

Wilson saw “some car pull[] in and let loose.” R. 84, ll. 19-20. He did not “see the actual shooting.” R. 87, ll. 1-3. He thought the car may have been “red, a little burgundy and stuff like that.” R. 85, ll. 7-10. According to Wilson, McDuffie “hit the ground,” while Lukie “kept running.” R. 84, ll. 20-21.

Lukie claimed that after he and McDuffie talked to McDuffie’s sister, Kumarie Cobb, a red car pulled up and someone in the car called out to McDuffie. R. 97, ll. 21-25; R. 104, ll. 8-23. According to Lukie, when McDuffie got to the car, Appellant got out, asked him a question, and started shooting. R. 98, ll. 1-7; R. 99, ll. 16-19. Although Lukie was shot in his hip on his left side, he ran away. R. 99, ll. 20-25.

Lukie got into the white car with Cobb and her friend. R. 86, ll. 11-16; R. 100, ll. 5-8. While Lukie was in the hospital, he told the police that he did not know who shot him or McDuffie. R. 100, ll. 14-25; R. 129, ll. 21-23. Later, Lukie claimed he saw the shooter's face and insisted that Appellant was the shooter. R. 101, ll. 1-11.

Lakisha Bletcher, who lived at Phoenix Apartments, heard gunshots and ran downstairs. R. 48, l. 21 – R. 49, l. 4; R. 49, ll. 15-20. She went outside where she saw a “little red car backing up” and McDuffie on the ground. R. 49, ll. 21-23. The red car left. R. 52, ll. 8-9; see also R. 68, ll. 20-21. Bletcher was unable to identify the make or model of the little red car, however. R. 57, ll. 10-12. Eventually, Bletcher and Terrance Gilchrist picked McDuffie up and put him in a car. R. 53, ll. 2-9; R. 69, ll. 5-8; R. 119, ll. 12-21. Gilchrist drove McDuffie to the hospital. R. 119, ll. 19-20. McDuffie was pronounced dead at the hospital. R. 167, ll. 11-12. According to the pathologist, McDuffie died as a result of a gunshot wound to the chest or back. R. 248, ll. 4-7.

Shortly after the police received a report about the shooting at Phoenix Place, an officer went to a 7-Eleven convenience store, which was about twenty-five yards from the apartments, to review surveillance video. R. 202, ll. 2-9; R. 208, ll. 1-3; R. 249, l. 21 – R. 250, l. 2.

After initially instructing other officers to look for a white car with a female driver, the police issued a “be on the look out” for a red car with tinted windows. R. 192, ll. 1-8; R. 203, ll. 1-8; R. 250, ll. 3-4; State's Exhibit #55. Around 5pm, officers with the Greenwood Police Department saw a car fitting the description within two miles of Phoenix Place Apartments. R. 192, l. 9 – R. 193, l. 1. While pursuing the car, the officers learned it was registered to Miangel Clark. R. 197, ll. 4-11. After the car crashed, the officers arrested Appellant. R. 195, l. 14 – R. 196, l. 5.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in failing to permit Appellant to present social media messages providing evidence of an alibi for one of his co-defendants, who was not on trial, where the social media messages were authenticated properly pursuant to Rule 901, SCRE, because the person who received the messages was prepared to testify and where the circumstantial evidence of distinctive characteristics established the evidence was what it purported to be.

Standard of review

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 126, 687 S.E.2d 35, 38 (2009) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. (quoting Pagan, 369 S.C. at 208, 631 S.E.2d at 265).

Relevant facts

Marisha C. told the police that she saw McDuffie talking through the window on the passenger side of the red car immediately before he was shot. R. 67, ll. 6-9. McDuffie then walked away from the car, but he was called back. R. 67, ll. 9-13. When he turned around, he was shot. R. 67, ll. 12-14. The police spoke to Marisha C. shortly after the shooting at the apartment complex. State’s Exhibit #55. Based upon information received from Marisha C. and others, the police believed at least two people were in the red car at the time of the shooting. State’s Exhibit #55.

In addition to charging Appellant, the police arrested Kemad White and Cedric Elmore for crimes related to this shooting. R. 254, ll. 15-25; R. 310, ll. 6-8; R. 339, l. 19 – R. 343, ll. 25. During his case-in-chief, Appellant sought to present a witness and introduce evidence from

Snapchat. R. 436, ll. 5-11. Specifically, Appellant wanted to call Raven Jackson, the girlfriend of Cedric Elmore. R. 436, ll. 15-20; R. 515. Jackson was prepared to testify regarding Snapchats she received from Elmore on the day and time of the shooting. R. 436, ll. 15-20; R. 515; Court's Exhibit #5. Jackson had spoken to the police and provided them with information regarding Elmore's whereabouts. R. 342, l. 24 – R. 343, l. 25. In essence, the Snapchat conversation placed Elmore at their apartment on the day and time of the shooting. R. 426, ll. 15-20; R. 515; Court's Exhibit #5.

Judge Hocker denied the request to present the evidence because he was concerned about “the possibility of” the “actual date and time stamped on this material” “being manipulated in some way.” R. 437, ll. 5-12.

Discussion

“It is black letter law that evidence must be authenticated or identified in order to be admissible.” State v. Brown, 424 S.C. 479, 488, 818 S.E.2d 735, 740 (2018). The proponent of evidence must satisfy “[t]he requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility.” Rule 901(a), SCRE. This requirement “is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” Id. While the burden is not high, the proponent must offer a satisfactory foundation to permit the jury to conclude the evidence is authentic. Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC, 413 S.C. 58, 64-65, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing United States v. Hassan, 742 F.3d 104, 133 (4th Cir. 2014)).

One of the most common ways for the proponent to authenticate evidence is through the testimony of a witness with knowledge that the “matter is what it is claimed to be.” See Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE. Another way to authenticate evidence is by showing the evidence contains

“distinctive characteristics and the like.” Rule 901(b)(4), SCRE. “Appearance, contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive characteristics, taken in conjunction with circumstances” may serve to authenticate evidence. Id.; see also State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 129, 687 S.E.2d 35, 39-40 (2009) (finding a master fingerprint card authenticated where an expert explained the prints on the master card were taken at a correctional facility on a specific date, and assigned a unique state identifying number).

Analyzing whether loan documents were authenticated, this Court held the proponent offered sufficient evidence. Deep Keel, LLC, 413 S.C. at 65, 773 S.E.2d at 610-611. This Court explained that a witness “testified he agreed to purchase a note from CresCom Bank, he examined the loan documents while negotiating the agreement, and the loan documents offered in evidence were the ones he examined and later received pursuant to this transaction.” Id. at 65, 773 S.E.2d at 611. “This testimony authenticated the loan documents because it was sufficient to support a finding that they were the documents [the proponent] claimed them to be.” Id. This Court rejected the argument that the witness was not a witness with knowledge under Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE, because he did not know “when, how, or by whom the documents were prepared, how they came to be in the possession of CresCom Bank, or how they were maintained by that bank.” Id. According to this Court, “[t]he authentication requirement does not demand this degree of proof.” Id.; see also State v. Patterson, 425 S.C. 500, 507-508, 823 S.E.2d 217, 221-222 (Ct. App. 2019) (holding the state authenticated DNA evidence by presenting a witness who “had first-hand knowledge of the procedures that went into collecting, storing, maintaining, and testing the DNA profile,” and another witness who “personally reviewed and verified the results of the DNA profile match”).

Recently, this Court addressed the authentication of social media messages through

circumstantial evidence. State v. Green, 427 S.C. 223, 830 S.E.2d 711 (Ct. App. 2019). This Court held the state authenticated Facebook messages despite neither the sender nor the recipient testifying. Id. at 232-233, 830 S.E.2d at 715-716. Rather, a witness testified that a co-defendant, who was not on trial, used the name “Ruby Rina” on Facebook. Id. at 228, 830 S.E.2d at 713. The witness claimed he saw the co-defendant and the defendant “laughing while texting.” Id. Later that day, the deceased arrived at the co-defendant’s home. Id. Subsequently, the police found the deceased’s body. Id. The police learned of the messages from the deceased’s father. Id. at 227, 830 S.E.2d at 712. The father claimed he had the deceased’s Facebook password and viewed the messages after the deceased went missing. Id. Among the messages was an invitation from Ruby Rina to the deceased on the day of his death for a sexual rendezvous at her home. Id. at 227, 830 S.E.2d at 712-713.

This Court held “the content of the messages was distinctive enough that a reasonable jury could find [co-defendant] wrote them.” Id. at 233, 830 S.E.2d at 715. According to this Court,

Numerous facts link[ed] the Facebook messages to [co-defendant] and, consequently, Green: the use of the screen name ‘Ruby Rina,’ which [a witness] testified was [co-defendant]’s; reference to ‘Julissa’ on the messages, which testimony showed was [co-defendant]’s sister’s name; Ruby Rina’s invitation to her home, which she stated was at 108 Queens Circle; [the deceased]’s reference to Ruby Rina as [co-defendant] ...; comments throughout the messages about Ruby Rina’s erstwhile boyfriend that were consistent with her relationship with Green; the timing of the messages; and the tragic fact that [deceased] disappeared shortly after Ruby Rina invited him to 108 Queens Circle, where his blood was later discovered.

Id. at 233, 830 S.E.2d at 715-716. This Court held that “[t]aken together, these circumstances serve as sufficient authentication to meet the low bar Rule 901(b)(4), SCRE, sets.” Id. at 233, 830 S.E.2d at 716.

Here, the Snapchats were authenticated pursuant to personal knowledge and circumstantial evidence. Raven Jackson's sworn statement provided that she received multiple photographs and videos via Snapchat from Elmore while she was at work on November 21, 2017. R. 515. The photographs indicated they were received between 2:04 p.m. and 2:23 p.m. R. 515; Court's Exhibit #5. She received the videos at 2:23 p.m., and 4:13 p.m. R. 515; Court's Exhibit #5. The videos show Elmore and her child in their apartment, which Jackson identified. R. 515; Court's Exhibit #5. Thus, the photographs and videos were identified by someone with personal knowledge as to their content and to their time and date of receipt.

Further, the photographs and videos were authenticated by circumstantial evidence. Elmore and Jackson were in an intimate relationship and shared two children; thus, messaging between the two was common. While Jackson was at work, Elmore sent her a series of photographs and videos showing her what he and their daughter were doing. The photographs showed dates and times that coincided with Jackson's work schedule. Thus, there was sufficient circumstantial evidence that the Snapchats were what they purported to be – evidence that Elmore was at home at the time of the alleged shooting.

The state relied on the same witnesses to place Appellant at the scene of the shooting as it did to place Elmore at the scene of the shooting. Therefore, if those witnesses were wrong about Elmore's presence at the scene of the shooting, then the witnesses' credibility was called into question, including whether they could be believed about Appellant's presence at the scene of the shooting. Based upon the photographs and the videos showing Elmore at a different place, then the witnesses were wrong about where Elmore was. The judge's error in concluding the photographs and videos were not authenticated because the dates and times could have been altered prejudiced Appellant because it prevented Appellant from challenging the investigation

conducted by law enforcement and the credibility of the state's witnesses.

II. The trial judge improperly sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole pursuant to the recidivist statute where Appellant’s prior conviction did not constitute a “strike” because (1) the family court failed to made adequate findings of fact pursuant to *In re Sullivan*, 274 S.C. 544, 548, 265 S.E.2d 527, 529 (1980), and (2) using a prior conviction for an offense committed while Appellant was a juvenile violated the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment.

Standard of review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” *State v. Vick*, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” *Id.* (quoting *Wilson*, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” *State v. Slocumb*, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” *In re M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

South Carolina statutory law “authorizes the family court to determine whether it is appropriate to transfer a juvenile charged with murder to the general sessions court.” *State v. Avery*, 333 S.C. 284, 292, 509 S.E.2d 476, 481 (1998). “The appellate court will affirm a transfer order unless the family court abused its discretion.” *Id.* However, there must be evidence to support the family court’s findings of fact. *Sanders v. State*, 281 S.C. 53, 55, 314 S.E.2d 319, 320 (1984).

Relevant facts

After the jury found Appellant guilty of murder and attempted murder, the judge deferred sentencing to consider Appellant's opposition to sentencing pursuant to the recidivist statute. R. 496, l. 2 – R. 497, l. 8; R. 521. The parties reconvened on November 30, 2018. R. 498. According to the state's notice of intent to seek LWOP, Appellant was convicted of assault and battery with intent to kill (ABWIK) on December 7, 2011. R. 533. The state argued the prior ABWIK conviction qualified as a strike because it was considered a most serious offense and Appellant's convictions for murder and attempted murder were most serious offenses. R. 533. Appellant argued his prior conviction did not qualify as a strike because (1) the family court failed to make adequate findings of fact pursuant to In re Sullivan, 274 S.C. 544, 548, 265 S.E.2d 527, 529 (1980), and (2) using a prior conviction for an offense committed while Appellant was a juvenile violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment and the constitutional requirement of equal protection for all. R. 500, ll. 2-6; R. 501, ll. 1-19; R. 503, l. 3 – R. 504, l. 1; R. 521.

Appellant's prior ABWIK conviction rose out of events that occurred on February 10, 2009, when Appellant was merely fifteen years old. R. 521. The family court had jurisdiction over Appellant due to his age. R. 521. Despite a pre-transfer evaluation that indicated Appellant needed therapeutic interventions and significant limits placed on his behavior, which would have been achievable in DJJ along with education, addiction treatment groups, vocational rehabilitation programs, and much more, the family court waived jurisdiction and transferred Appellant to the court of general sessions on November 25, 2009. R. 521. Thereafter, on December 7, 2011, Appellant entered a guilty plea to ABWIK. R. 521. He was sentenced to

fifteen years imprisonment suspended upon the service of eight years and credit for 1029 days of time served. R. 521.

Ultimately, Judge Hocker denied Appellant's motion. R. 507, l. 22 – R. 508, l. 6; R.510, ll. 8-16. Thereafter, he sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole (LWOP) for murder and attempted murder pursuant to the recidivist statute. R. 510, ll. 19-24; R. 513, ll. 19-21.

Discussion

Insufficiency of the family court order

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