RECEIVED

Aug 11 2020

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Greenwood County
The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-002176

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ZANTRAVIOUS RANDELL HALL,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
No. 14244

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General
No. 4806

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, South Carolina 29641

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

¹⁰ It is also possible to edit or change a Snapchat Story after it is posted if the sender first saves it as a “memory.” *See How To Edit Or Change A Snapchat Story After Posting*, <https://social.techjunkie.com/edit-snapchat-story-after-posting/>.

important in analyzing hearsay issues. Indeed, these two evidentiary concepts often are considered together when determining the admissibility of exhibits or documents.” *Lorraine*, 241 F.R.D. at 542. Appellant’s proffer was insufficient to properly authenticate the evidence at issue. *See, e.g., Wady v. Provident Life and Accident Ins. Co. of Am.*, 216 F.Supp.2d 1060 (C.D.Cal. 2002) (sustaining an objection to the affidavit of a witness offered to authenticate an exhibit containing documents taken from defendant’s website because the affiant lacked personal knowledge); *Richardson v. State*, 79 N.E.3d 958, 964 (Ind. Ct. App. 2017) (trial court properly denied admission of Facebook messages when the State failed to properly authenticate the messages), *trans. denied*. *Accord State v. Caslin*, 2018-Ohio-5362, ¶ 20, 2018 WL 6921481, *5 (Oh. Ct.App. 2018) (trial court did not err in admitting screenshot of Facebook page where the witness “had knowledge the screenshot of the Facebook page was what it purported to be” and there was no evidence to support inference that screenshot photographs were contrived or altered).

Rule 220(c), SCACR, provides that an “appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.” In the present case, even assuming *arguendo* that Ms. Jackson could properly authenticate Court’s Ex. 5 and the information she supposedly received from Elmore on November 21st, the trial judge’s ruling must still be affirmed because the proffered evidence was not relevant to Appellant’s guilt or innocence under Rule 401, SCRE. Rather, it was inadmissible hearsay and the prejudicial effect of this hearsay evidence substantially outweighed its probative value. *See* Rule 403, SCRE.

“A cornerstone of evidence admissibility is its relevance.” *Phillips v. State*, 285 So.3d 685, 691 (Miss. Ct.App. 2019), *reh’g denied* (Oct. 8, 2019), *cert. denied*, 284 So.3d 754 (Miss. 2019). “All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of

the United States, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, statutes, these rules, or by other rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of South Carolina. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Rule 402, SCRE. “‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears, and it is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact proved.” *State v. Sweat*, 362 S.C. 117, 126–27, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004).

Here, *at best*, the proffered evidence would have potentially provided an alibi for Elmore.¹¹ However, Elmore was not on trial, did not testify, and presumably was not even in the

¹¹ The Supreme Court of South Carolina has explained that:

The literal significance of the word ‘alibi’ is ‘elsewhere’; as used in criminal law, it indicates that line of proof by which an accused undertakes to show that because he was not at the scene of the crime at the time of its commission, having been at another place at the time, he could not have committed the crime. In other words, by an alibi the accused attempts to prove that he was at a place so distant that his participation in the crime was impossible. ... To establish an alibi the accused must show that he was at another specified place at the time the crime was committed, thus making it impossible for him to have been at the scene of the crime.

State v. Robbins, 275 S.C. 373, 375, 271 S.E.2d 319, 320 (1980) (citation omitted). Here, Ms. Jackson’s affidavit fails to include any information about the distance between the residence from which Elmore supposedly sent the various communications and the crime scene. Accordingly, the effort to establish an alibi would fail. See *Boseman v. Bazzle*, 364 Fed. Appx. 796, 807 (4th Cir. 2010) (unpublished) (reversing grant of habeas corpus relief where the district court “misconstrued the evidence presented during the PCR hearing and did not afford the proper level of deference to the PCR court’s factual finding that trial counsel’s interviews with the alibi witnesses “only established an incomplete or partial alibi for [Boseman] and did not give him an alibi for the actual time of the alleged incident”).

courtroom during the trial. Ms. Jackson's affidavit does not mention Appellant, which is hardly surprising in light of the fact that while she gave several statements to police, she did not mention Appellant in any of those statements. See *R. 342-343; 351-352*.

Whether or not she could provide an alibi for Elmore, but not Appellant, is irrelevant to whether Appellant was guilty of the crimes for which he was on trial. See *Johnson v. State*, 872 So. 2d 65, 71 (Miss. App. 2004) (testimony of co-defendant's mother, whose own criminal case had been severed from that of two defendants, that her son suffered from significant mental illness and was at her home night of robbery, was not relevant at trial of two defendants because mother was not attempting to provide alibi for either defendant. Rather, she was attempting to provide alibi for her son who was not on trial and two defendants were attempting to bootstrap their own innocence to that of co-defendant who did not even appear at trial).

Even assuming *arguendo* that the Court finds that the proffered evidence was somehow *marginally* relevant, the video statements, as well as the information in the screenshot by Elmore were hearsay and Appellant did not proffer any exception to the rule barring the admission of hearsay. See Rule 801(c), SCRE; *Price*, 368 S.C. at 499, 629 S.E.2d at 366. See also Childs, *Social Media and the Federal Rules of Evidence*, at 2.

As the Court explained in *People v. Johnson*, 28 N.Y.S.3d 783, 795 (N.Y. Co. Ct. 2015):

“Where postings from internet websites are not statements made by declarants testifying at trial and are offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, such postings generally constitute hearsay under Fed.R.Evid. 801. *United States v. Jackson*, 208 F.3d 633, 638 [7th Cir.2000] (declining to admit web postings where defendant was unable to show that the postings were authentic, and holding that even if such documents qualified under a hearsay exception, they are inadmissible ‘if the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate a lack of trustworthiness’) (quoting *United States v. Croft*, 750 F.2d 1354, 1367 [7th Cir.1984]); see also *St. Clair v. Johnny's Oyster & Shrimp, Inc.*, *supra*, 76, F.Supp.2d at 775 (‘[A]ny evidence procured off the Internet is adequate for almost nothing, even under the most liberal interpretation

of the hearsay exception rules.’)” *Novak v. Tucows, Inc.*, 2007 WL 922306, *5, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21269, *15–16 [E.D.N.Y. Mar. 26, 2007].^[12]

(Footnote added).

Furthermore, the prejudicial effect of this evidence substantially outweighed any *de minimis* probative value it might have. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury” Rule 403, SCRE. “Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis.” *State v. Spears*, 403 S.C. 247, 253, 742 S.E.2d 878, 881 (Ct.App.2013) (citation omitted).

The probative value of the proffered evidence was, at best, negligible. Again, this hearsay evidence does not provide Appellant with an alibi. Indeed, it is not relevant to any defense for him and it also does nothing to refute or rebut the prosecution’s case against him. It only attempts to provide Elmore with an alibi. Further, it was cumulative to other evidence that was already before the jury that police had initially received statements that Elmore and White were involved in shooting the victims, but the investigation ultimately concluded that Appellant was the only shooter. *R. 343-351*.

The proffered evidence was likewise cumulative to evidence that Ms. Jackson had provided police with unverifiable cell information that was not incriminating and left open the possibility of his involvement in the crimes. Specifically, Respondent directs the Court’s attention to the following exchange on Appellant’s cross-examination of Sgt. Haralson:

¹² The defendant in *Johnson* was tried on one count of predatory sexual assault against a child. *Id.* at 786-87. He sought to introduce evidence of the sexual assault victim’s purported “likes” on social media pages containing electronically stored images depicting sexually suggestive images taken from other websites. In pertinent part, the Court found both that the defendant failed to properly authenticate the evidence in question, *id.* at 8 N.Y.S.3d at 794–95, and that it was inadmissible hearsay. *Id.* at 795-96.

- Q And after Cedric Elmore was arrested, were you involved in taking a statement from Raven, his girlfriend?
- A I've spoke[n] to Raven on many occasions.
- Q Okay. How many?
- A I couldn't tell you. It's been many. She came up to the office quite frequently.
- Q Did she give you an affidavit about this case?
- A She talked to me. She gave me an affidavit about some cell phone issues. Nothing that helped or hurt the case. It was kind of irrelevant, what she brought.
- Q It was information about Cedric Elmore, at least?
- A It was information about him. Something -- it was non-verifiable. We couldn't verify that it was true.
- Q And you couldn't verify that it wasn't?
- A We verified that it didn't help him out.
- Q And it didn't hurt him?
- A It definitely didn't help him in any way, shape or form.
- Q Did it definitely not hurt him in any way, shape or form?
- A It still left the fact that he could have been there. So that's, it was irrelevant information.
- Q Well, you just keep putting the emphasis on, it didn't help him, but it also didn't hurt him, ---
- A. Correct.
- Q --- did it?
- A No. There was nothing incriminating about it. No.

R. 342, line 24 – 343, line 25.

On the other hand the prejudicial effect of the proffered evidence was great because it would have misled jurors and diverted their attention away from the only issue properly before them: whether or not Appellant was guilty of the crimes for which he was on trial. If the proffered evidence had been presented, jurors' attention would have improperly been focused on the irrelevant issue of whether Elmore possibly had an alibi, when the State was not contending that he shot the victims. See *Johnson*, 872 So. 2d at 71. Cf. *State v. Henley*, 428 S.C. 649, 663, 837 S.E.2d 639, 646 (Ct. App. 2019), *reh'g denied* (Feb. 13, 2020) ("The evidence of Henley's prior acquittal had little to no probative value as it did not prove or disprove any element necessary to the first degree burglary charge; yet, admission of the evidence would have likely led to jury confusion because it would have invited the jury to speculate about what occurred at the first trial"); *Kennedy v. Richland County Sch. Dist. Two*, 833 S.E.2d 414, 431–32 (S.C. App. 2019), *reh'g denied* (Oct. 24, 2019), *cert. dismissed* (Mar. 9, 2020) (finding trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding evidence of alleged petty theft charges against plaintiff, which occurred at SCANA while he was employed as a night-shift security guard, because plaintiff's reputation had already been damaged when the petit theft occurred and introduction of the evidence "would be unfairly prejudicial or cause confusion of the issues because it would present difficulty in determining when the actual injury to [plaintiff's] reputation occurred"). Therefore, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by excluding the proffered evidence.

II. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by relying on Appellant's 2011 conviction for assault and battery with intent to kill (ABIK) as a strike for sentencing purposes and imposing sentences of life without the possibility of parole (LWOP) under S.C. Code § 17-25-45 (Supp. 2020) for his 2018 murder and attempted murder convictions.

Notwithstanding that Appellant was a juvenile when he committed his prior offense, the trial judge did not err in relying on his 2011 assault and battery with intent to kill (ABIK) conviction as a strike for sentencing purposes and imposing sentences of life without the

possibility of parole (LWOP) under S.C. Code § 17-25-45 (Supp. 2020) for his 2018 murder and attempted murder convictions because the ABIK conviction constituted a strike under the recidivist statute. Also, Appellant could not collaterally attack the facial validity of his 2011 conviction following his 2018 trial. Instead, his only proper remedy was to challenge the ABIK conviction at a trial and appeal, or in an Application under the Uniform Post-Conviction Relief Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-27-10, et seq. (2014) ("the PCR Act"), which he failed to do. Furthermore, relying on the ABIK conviction to enhance a sentence for crimes committed as an adult did not violate the Eighth Amendment.

A. Proceedings in the trial court.

On July 26, 2018, the State timely served Appellant with notice it would seek LWOP if Appellant was convicted on the murder and attempted murder charges.¹³ Following Appellant's convictions for both offenses, the trial judge stated that he had just been handed "a memorandum with some attachments," which Appellant had filed in opposition to the State's July 26, 2018 notice. Because Appellant's memorandum was lengthy, he deferred sentencing to adequately consider it and to give the State an opportunity to respond. *R. 496-497; see also R. 521-559.* (Appellant's Memorandum). The State filed a response to Appellant's motion on October 25, 2018. *R. 560-576.* (State's response).

At the November 30, 2018 sentencing hearing, the trial judge stated that he had read both Appellant's memorandum and the State's response to it, and that he was thoroughly familiar with the parties' respective positions. However, Appellant had indicated a desire to argue that LWOP sentencing violate his right to equal protection. So, the trial judge allowed him to do so. *R. 499-500.*

¹³ See Exhibit A to Appellant's Memorandum, *R. 533*. ABIK was in 2011 and remains a "most serious offense" under § 17-25-45(C)(1).

Appellant argued that a juvenile adjudication could not be used as a strike under South Carolina case law and that using his conviction as a juvenile as a strike would likewise violate equal protection. He added that:

We believe that the proper – I guess, if there should be heightened scrutiny on this due to the fact that, you know, [a] juvenile ... adjudication is somewhat of a protected class, but even under the rational basis test, we would submit that even under the rational basis test, there's no rational basis for treating Mr. Hall differently just because of the fact that he got transferred to adult court versus juvenile court.

R. 501.

The State maintained that there was a legitimate State interest in allowing “juveniles who have committed atrocious crimes to be waived up to General Sessions Court.” The statute “puts those protections into place” by requiring a transfer hearing. The State also observed that while there was not a lot of case law on the issue, *People v. Cole*, 152 Cal.App.4th 230, 61 Cal. Rptr.3d 238 (Cal. App. 2007), *as mod. on denial of reh'g* (July 18, 2007), held that treating prior convictions in adult court for crimes committed as juvenile, as strikes under a recidivist statute, did not violate equal protection. **R. 501-503.**

Appellant argued in reply that South Carolina and California waive up juveniles differently because juveniles in South Carolina are waived up “based off of a variety of factors that are not just ... the atrociousness of a crime.” He added that:

It doesn't have to necessarily deal with the crime. Also, if you look at ... perhaps he got waived up. And ... it's our position that the Court really can't determine exactly why he was waived up because of the lack of description in the waiver order from the lower court, but ... if part of ... the reason is ... that ... you can get waived up in South Carolina simply because of the fact that ... the Court doesn't find that you're necessarily a great candidate or that ... a variety of other reasons.

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